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IN SEMIRECHYE IN THE EARLY XX TH CENTURY
(According to the Documents from the Fund of the Head
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The article discusses the educational activities of the tsarist government in Semirechye in the early
twentieth century. Conducting educational work by the Semirechensky Resettlement Directorate, the
Semiresensk Regional Committee and the Special Council on documents No. 19 of the fund of the cen-
tral state archive of the Republic of Kazakhstan. Based on these documents, the directions of the colonial
policy of the pre-revolutionary tsarist government in Zhetysu are determined. The reflection of the co-
lonial policy of the tsarist government in Zhetysu in the writings of officials S.N. Veletsky, A.P. Kuplast,
A.V. Vasiliev, A.L. Tregubova, K.K. Palena. The views of representatives of the Kazakh intelligentsia A.
Bukeikhanov, M. Dulatov, A. Baitursynov, M. Tynyshbaev about the consequences of spiritual coloni-
zation are revealed. Based on the documents of the foundation, the religious and educational work of
the Russian Empire among the immigrants is stated. It will justify the allocation of land allotments and
funds for the construction of schools and churches, the close attention of the Resettlement Department
to conduct educational events.
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Ty#in cesaep: Peceir umnepusicol, natwa ykimeTi, KoHbIC ayaapy 6ackapmachl, KOp Ky>KaTTapbi,
arapTy >KYMbICbl, MEKTENTEP, LUipkeyAep.

© 2020 Al-Farabi Kazakh National University 75


https://doi.org/10.26577/JH-2018-4-290
https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8613-7248
https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2367-3411
mailto:Orazgul7@rambler.ru
mailto:tleubekova@mail.ru
mailto:Orazgul7@rambler.ru
mailto:tleubekova@mail.ru
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MpocBeTUTEAbCKAS AGATEALHOCTDb LLAPCKOro npaBuTeAbLCTBA B XKetbicy B Havare XX Beka
(no AokymeHTam (pOHAA 3aBeAYLLEro
Cemupeuenckoro lNepecereHUYecKOro ynpaBAeHUs1)

B ctaTtbe paccMaTpuBaeTCs MPOCBETUTEABCKAS AESITEABHOCTb LIAPCKOro npaBuTeAbcTBa B Cemu-
peube B Hauare XX Beka. [poBeaeHme npocseTUTEAbCKMX paboT CemmpeueHcknm MNMepeceaeHuecknm
ynpaeaeHuem, CemmpeceHCKMm 06AaCTHbIM KOMUTETOM 1 CrieLmaabHbIM COBETOM MO AOKyMeHTam N219
®oHAa LleHTpaAbHOro rocyaapcreeHHoro apxmsa Pecny6ankm KasaxcraH. Ha ocHoBe 3TMX AOKYMEHTOB
ornpeAeAeHbl HarpaBAEHUS KOAOHMAABHOM MOAUTUKN AOPEBOAIOLIMOHHOMO LLIAPCKOro MpaBUTEAbCTBA B
JKeTbicy. AHaAM3MpPYeTCS OTpaXkeHne KOAOHWMAAbHOM MOAMTUKM LLapCKOro NpaBUTEAbCTBA B JKeTbicy B
Tpyaax umHoHukoB C.H. Beaeukoro, A.IN. Kynaacrta, A.B. BacuabeBa, A.A. Tperyboga, K.K. INaaeHa.
PackpblBaloTCS B3rasiabl MPeACTaBUTEAEN KAa3axCKOM MHTeAAureHumn A. bykeiixaHoBa, M. AyaaToBa,
A. baittypcbiHoBa, M. TbiHbILLGaEBa O MOCAEACTBUSAX AYXOBHOM KOAOHM3aLMK. Ha 0CHOBE AOKYMEHTOB
(poHAQ M3AAraloTCsl PEAMTMO3Hble 1 06pa3oBaTEAbHO-BOCTIMTaTEAbHblE paboThbl Poccuickon nmnepum
cpeau nepeceaeHLeB.O60CHYETCS BbIAEAEHUE 3EMEAbHbIX HAAEAOB M CPEACTB AAS CTPOMTEABCTBA LLIKOA
W LlepKBeit, MprcTaAbHOe BHUMaHUe [epeceAeHUYecKoro yrnpaBAeHrs Ha MPOBEAEHNE NPOCBETUTEABCKMX

MEpOonpUATHNA.

KatoueBble caoBa: Poccurickas mMmnepusi, LAapcKoe MpaBMTEAbCTBO, [lepeceaeHueckoe ynpas-
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Introduction

Enlightening activity has always played an im-
portant role in the formation and development of so-
ciety and the state. Therefore, the study of the pro-
cess of enlighteningwork of the Russian Empire in
Semirechye in the early twentieth century. It has a
peculiar value in the pre-revolutionary history of the
region. Enlighteningactivities of the government in
Semirechye were carried out with the help of several
instances and institutions, such as: Semirechensk re-
settlement department, Semirechye regional com-
mittee, Special Council, etc.

In the late XIX — early XX centuries, the Rus-
sian Empire actively pursued a policy of resettle-
ment in the Kazakh steppes. It spent a lot of work
to improve the socio-economic situation of the re-
settled peasants. The 19 fund has been created in the
Central State Archive of the Republic of Kazakhstan
that contains documents reflecting the work carried
out by the resettlement department of the Semirech-
ensk region in the field of education. Based on these
documents, it is possible to determine the direction
of the policy of the pre-revolutionary government in
Semirechye.

Materials and methods
The basis of the article was the documents of

the head of the resettlement department of the Semi-
rechensk region of the Main Directorate of Land
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Management and Agriculture (19th fund), which are
stored in the Central State Archive of the Republic
of Kazakhstan. The fund contains documents of state
employees on the activities of the Semirechensk re-
settlement institution. Among them were: circulars,
instructions, orders, magazines, protocols, reports,
record, references, recommendations. The largest
volume of sources in the fund is the reporting data
and documents on personnel. All cases systematized
in the fund are considered valuable sources of the
pre-revolutionary period, and their significant part
is the original.

The article is based on the use of general sci-
entific and historical research methods. The method
of analysis was used to disclose certain facts on the
subject under study, the systematic method and the
synthesis method were used to generalize the ma-
terials. Also, the use of statistical methods avoided
descriptiveness and suggests an analytical approach
to identifying and studying the main aspects and re-
sults of the educational work of the tsarist govern-
ment in Semirechye.

The historical scientific research took into ac-
count the principles of historicism, objectivity and
a social approach.

Discussion
The first works and informative publications

related to resettlement management in Semirechye
were published over the years of his work, that is,
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at the beginning of the twentieth century. More pre-
cisely, the authors of these works, written from 1905
to 1918, were mainly officials of the tsarist govern-
ment. They were not special scientific works, but
were works of a reporting nature on the results of
the work done, intended for the Main Migration Di-
rectorate. Proceedingsof S.N. Veletsky, who worked
for 8 years as the head of the Semirechensk resettle-
ment department, has a high historical value, since
they were of a reporting nature. In his works “Semi-
rechensk Region and its Colony” (Veletsky, 1916),
“Note on the situation and needs of the resettlement
business in the Semirechensky District by January
1, 1913” (Veletsky, 1913), statistical documents
from the Semirechensky resettlement institution
were used. Such an advantage of the author’s works
contributes to a deep determination of the essence
and significance of the documents of the fund under
consideration. In the work of an engineer Vasiliev
“Semirechensk region as a colony and the role of
the Chui valley in it” paid special attention to the
issue of colonization of the Semirechensk region
(Vasiliev, 1915). In 1912, authored by A.P. Kuplast
was published a guide called “Semirechensk re-
gion” (Kuplast, 1912). This work provided general
information about the Semirechensk region. In July
1909, by decision of the Main Migration Director-
ate, a deputy of the State Duma and a religious fig-
ure A.L. Trebugov. During the trip A.L. Tregubov
visited Russian villages, Cossack villages and got
acquainted with the life of the settlers. He held spiri-
tual events to disseminate religious preaching and
marriage of newlyweds. As a result, in 1910 his
work “Migration in the Semipalatinsk and Semi-
rechensk Regions” was published (Tregubov, 1910).

In 1908, the tsarist administration sent a sena-
torial audit to Turkestan Governor General under
the leadership of K.K. Palena. During the audit, the
activities of all state institutions in the region were
checked, including the resettlement department of
the Semirechensk region. As a result of work in
1910, audit materials were published. “Report on
the audit of the Turkestan Territory, carried out at
the highest command by Senator Hofmeister Count
K.K. Palen ”(Palen, 1910).

The work of Russian officials on colonial policy
was published at the beginning of the twentieth cen-
tury. These include a number of works by G. Gins.
They are devoted to resettlement and the policy of
colonization (Gins, 1913; Gins, 1912). The policy
of the tsarist government on the colonization of
Kazakh lands was noted in the articles of the Ka-
zakh intelligentsia of the early twentieth century:
A. Bukeikhanov (Kirbalasy, 1998), (Bokeykha-

nov, 1998), M. Tynyshpayev (Tynyshpayev, 2002),
M.Dulatov (Azamat, 1995), A. Baitursynov (Bait-
ursynov, 1995a), (Baitursynov, 1995b), which were
published in national unofficial periodicals. Over
the years of independence, a number of works have
been published on the political history of the Ka-
zakhs and the Russian Empire.

Historian M.K. Koigeldiev, carefully studying
colonial policy in the Semirechye region, in his stud-
ies tried to cover its various aspects. In this regard, it
is worth noting the monograph of the scientist “Rus-
sian power in Semirechye (19th century-1917)”
(Koigeldiev, 1995) (Koigeldiev 2004). Some of the
documents of the 19th fund regarding the resettle-
ment policy of the tsarist government in Semirechye
were analyzed in the work of the historian F.N. Mi-
ymanbaeva (Miymanbaeva, 2002).

From the English-language historiography, it
is worth highlighting the work of the researcher
A.Cherkasov, dedicated to the educational process
in Russia 1894-1917. Based on actual and statistical
data, the article analyzes the activities of the govern-
ment in the field of education. The author was able
to show the general picture of the dynamics of the
development of primary education throughout the
country (Cherkasov, 2011).

Results

The educational activities of the Russian Empire
in this region began with the construction of schools
and churches. Before the establishment of the
resettlement administration in the Semirechensk
region, the local administration was engaged in the
construction of schools and churches in the region.
And since 1905, under the leadership of the General
Directorate of Agriculture and Land Management, the
construction of schools and churches in resettlement
areas was assigned to officials of the resettlement
department. The resettlement administration carried
out this matter, coordinating work with the local
diocesan authorities and the central administration
of the Holy Synod (CSA RK F. 19. Op. 1. D. 2706.
P. 185). The opening of churches and parishes in the
newly built villages increased the number of Russian
peasants. In addition, such sites were valuable to
walkers.

Since 1907, the Russian Empire began work
on religious and educational activities. On August
31, 1907, a decree of the Synod was adopted.
This circular was sent to the bishops of Turkestan,
Tashkent and the Semirechensk resettlement region.
According to the decree, numerous Muslims,
Buddhists and the population of various sects in the
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resettlement regions have a great influence on the
Orthodox Russian peasants. As a result, the settlers
move away from the churches. Therefore, it was
noted about the need for urgent measures on this issue
(CSA RKF. 19. Op. 1. D. 2706. P. 68).On January
18, 1908, by order of the Emperor in the region, a
Special Council was created under the chairmanship
of the Chief Prosecutor. The Council’s task was
to determine the financial resources allocated for
religious needs in the resettlement areas. The first
meeting of the Special Council was held on March
30, 1908 (CSA RK F. 19. Op. 1. D. 2706.P. 136).
By decree of the emperor on March 7, 1908, in each
region, special committees were to be created along
with the commission. These committees were tasked
with providing religious services to the migrants.
According to the proposal of the Special Committee
to the Turkestan Bishop Dmitry Synod, it was
necessary to create a special regional committee in
each region, since the Turkestan diocese consisted
of five regions, and since one committee could not
deal with all matters. This proposal was approved
by the Synod on May 7, 1908, as a result of which
the Semirechensk Regional Committee was created.
The regional committee included the military
governor of the Semirechensk region, the head of
the regional state property department, the head
of the Semirechensk resettlement district, and the
regional engineer.

The first meeting of the Semirechensk
Regional Committee took place on June 13,
1908, in which Turkestan Bishop Dmitry, military
governor Lieutenant General Pokotilo, head of the
Semirechensk resettlement region Veletsky, regional
engineer Zenkov and clerk Bryzgalov (CSARKF. 19.
Op. 1. D 2706. P. 195). At the meeting, a report was
heard by the head of the Semirechensk resettlement
department S.N. Veletsky about the settlement of
Russian immigrants in the Semirechensk region and
the intended areas. The head of the Semirechensk
resettlement region was instructed to prepare a
map of the Semirechensk region indicating the
resettlement villages specifically for the Committee.
A schematic map of the Semirechensk region in 1909
was prepared in accordance with the above order
(CSA RK F. 19. Op. 1. D. 2706. P. 156). Because
the map indicated resettlement settlements created
before 1910, and marked churches and parishes of
Russian villages. In total, there were 62 churches and
parishes in the counties in the region: Lepsy — 12,
Kapal — 14, Zharkent — 5, Verny-12, Prezhevalsk -7,
Pishpek -12. Until 1910, in the Semirechensk region,
religious organizations for Russian immigrants were
opened mainly in the Kapalsk district.
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The meeting also considered the issue of sending
special mobile churches to villages located far from
the churches and recently built to fulfill the religious
needs of the population. It should be noted that this
issue was also discussed at a meeting of the Special
Council chaired by the Chief Prosecutor General
on March 7, 1908 (CSA RK F. 19. Op. 1. D. 2706.
PP.133-134). Unmarried employees were appointed
in the mobile churches and their annual salary was
paid in double size.

At the regional committee, county committees
were established to hold religious events for
migrants. County committees were created in all
county centers of the Semirechensk region. The
instruction of the district committees consisted of
five subparagraphs (CSA RK. F. 19. Op. 1. D. 2767.
PP. 3-4). According to the decree, the permanent
representatives of the district committee were the
religious representative of the district, the head of
the district, the head of the small district and local
foresters. The Chairman of the Committee was
appointed by the Regional Committee from among
local religious representatives, but in some cases the
head of the district was also appointed Chairman.
According to the 4-subparagraph of the decree, the
district committee considered all issues related to the
religious and educational needs of the migrants. The
committee compiled a list of settlements inhabited
by Russian peasants, indicating the shares of land
plots, noted the number of settlers and the distance
between newly built villages and old villages with
churches. And also controlled the implementation
of the allocation of land, according to the decree in
the newly built settlements for the construction of
the church and school allocated 120 acres of land.
The plan prepared by the county committee was
sent to the Regional Committee for consideration.
After the plan was approved, the local committee
was engaged in its implementation (CSA RK. F. 19.
Op. 1.D. 618.P. 1).

According to the Law of April 19, 1909, Rural
communities under the leadership of the county
committee were authorized to adopt a decree on
the issuance of non-repayable loans and ownerless
forests to the Great Synod and the resettlement
administration for the construction of schools and
churches, or to file an application on behalf of the
residents. For example, on December 7, 1911,
peasants from the village of Otradnoye in the
Przhevalsky district decided at a village meeting on
the need to allocate a loan of five thousand rubles for
the construction of the church. In the decree it was
written: “On December 7, 1911, we the undersigned
peasants, migrants from the village of Otradny
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Graf of the Palenky volost of the Przhevalsky
district of the Semirechensk region, gathered at
a rural gathering among 144 householders with
the right to vote at the gathering of 96 people, we
have the following judgment: to build a church
in In our village for an amount of not more than
10,000 rubles, we unanimously sentenced: to ask
the responsible authorities to apply for a loan from
us for the general useful need of only 5,000 rubles,
which we commit to in continuation-paying ten
years, in equal installments at 500 rubles per year
CSARKF. 19.0p. 1. D. 2767. P. 23). The peasants
of the village of Otradnoye asked for half of the
necessary 10,000 rubles for the construction of
the church in the form of a loan, indicating that
they would return this amount within ten years.
The rural decision was confirmed by the seal of
the headman. In laws on the opening of schools,
villagers were obliged to provide heat and light for
the school building and teacher’s housing and to
provide protection (CSA RK. F. 19. Op. 1. D. 126.
L. 56; D. 2770. P. 15).

The district committee monthly published
the decisions of the subordinate rural district
and submitted it to the Regional Committee
for consideration. In Decree No. 1 of the
PrzhevalskyDistrict Committee of January 21,
1912, the statements of the villages of Otradnoye,
Ozerno-Folbaumsky, Bogatyrsky, Valerianovsky
and Mikhailovsky were considered and sent to the
Supreme Committee (CSARK F. 19. Op. 1. D. 2767.
P. 45). If the village request requires funds for the
construction of the church, this document is sent for
consideration along with the Regional Committees
and the Diocesan Committee.

The activities of the Turkestan Diocesan
Committee for the construction of churches in the
region are covered in the protocol documentation.
The meetings of the Committee were chaired by the
Bishop of Turkestan and Tashkent, Dmitry and the
military governor of the Semirechensk region, the
head of the Semirechensk resettlement department,
the Diocesan controller, regional engineer, architect,
religious figures, and the clerk of the committee
participated in them. At a meeting of the Turkestan
Diocesan Committee on January 23, 1912, the
project of a church for resettlement villages was
examined (CSA RK. F. 19. Op. 1. D. 2767. P. 250).
The project was prepared by the regional architect
S.K. Troparevsky and A. Bonch-Osmolovsky. At the
meeting, the project was confirmed, and a decision
was made to distribute the project to district
committees. The project of the church was presented
to rural communities, but according to which project

the construction of the church will be carried out,
the community decided.

S.K. Toparevsky and A. Bonch (CSA RK.
F. 19. Op. 1. D. 2770. P. 15). The project shows
the architectural appearance of the church, the
scheme and parameters. The project was prepared
on January 13, 1912 by regional architects S.
Toparevsky and A.Bonch-Osmolovsky, hydraulic
engineer A.Korneev, secretary A. Baimulov. This
project of the church was approved at a meeting of
the Turkestan Diocesan Committee on January 23,
1912.

It is worth noting that the archives store
photographs of schools, churches and religious
buildings of the Semirechensky region, built for the
settlers. The 1916 report contained statistical data
and photographs of schools, churches, religious
dwellings opened in the Semirechensky district
from 1904 to 1916. There are also photo documents
of the construction of the church in the village of
Alekseevka of Verny district, schools in the village
of Kastek-Prudka, churches and schools of the
villages of the Lepsinsk district — Pokotilovka,
Pokrovskaya, Novo-Nadezhdinskaya (CSA RK.
F.19. Op. 1. D. 618. PP 11-22). In principle, all
schools and churches were similar to each other,
since their buildings were single-story. It can be
concluded that schools and churches in the region
are built on the same project.

At meetings of the Turkestan Diocesan
Committee, the Regional Committee approved the
budget for the construction of schools and churches,
prepared a plan for a specific year. In terms of
the construction of churches and schools in the
resettlement settlements, the funds allocated by the
Holy Synod and the resettlement administration
were indicated. This document was approved
by the chief prosecutor and the head of the main
department of agriculture and land management,
and was certified by the signature of the head of the
main resettlement department. According to the plan
of 1912, from the funds of the Great Synod, 99 850
were allocated for new religious institutions, 31 125
homes of religious ministers, trips in the region —
4500, technical control — 16 800, mobile churches —
about 21 000, construction of churches and schools
— 433169 rubles. Of the resettlement management
funds, 670483 were allocated for construction,
50,000 for 25 mobile churches, 12,000 for pastoral
courses, and 35,000 rubles for future requests (CSA
RK F. 19. Op. 1. D. 2767. P. 58 ) In accordance
with the law of April 19, 1909, funds for the needs
of immigrants were allocated to rural communities
in the form of loans or non-repayable funds. Fixed
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loans for each region are presented in the plan in
the form of a table. In the plan of 1912, 76 150
rubles were allocated in the Semirechensk region
from the fund of the Great Synod, 59 200 from the
resettlement department (CSA RK. F. 19. Op. 1.
D.2767. PP. 50-61). From these data, it can be noted
that the Great Synod allocated 16,950 rubles more
than the resettlement administration.

Funds from the Great Synod and the resettlement
administration were constantly allocated for the
construction of schools and churches in resettlement
villages. A special fund named after Emperor
Alexander III also financed the construction of
schools and churches on the outskirts of the Russian
Empire. According to the above-mentioned Decree
of the Emperor of August 31, 1907, 200 churches
were built in Siberia and the Kyrgyz steppes at the
expense of the fund of Tsar Alexander III (CSA
RK. F. 19. Op. 1. D. 2706. P. 68). In March 7, 1907,
the head of the Semirechensk resettlement region
S.N.Veletsky sent a letter of recommendation to the
Chancellery ofthe Emperor Alexander [11 Foundation
in St. Petersburg (CSA RK. F. 19. Op. 1. D. 2706.
P.4). According to S.N. Veletsky in the Pishpek
uyezd from the management of the Cossack army
was transferred to the resettlement fund 6th Chuy
site. Since this site was located on the borders of the
Syr Darya region and far from the Russian villages,
he needed a separate church. Therefore, funds from
the fund of Alexander III on an irrevocable basis
were requested for the construction of a church and
a school in the 6th Chuy settlement.

The head of the Semirechensk resettlement
district, in a service document sent on November 24,
1907 to the Turkestan religious consistory, spoke
about the need to request funds for the construction
of schools and churches in new villages from the
fund of Emperor Alexander III (CSA RK. F. 19.
Op.1. D. 2706.P. 77).

Since 1909, the Tsarist administration began to
pay more attention to educational work. The Ministry
of Public Education and the General Directorate for
Resettlement carried out activities related to the
opening of primary specializedschools and schools.
In this regard, at a meeting of the Special Council on
January 10, 1909, the question of opening primary
specializedschools and schools on the territory of
Siberia and Kazakhstan was examined (CSA RK. F.
19.Op. 1. D. 126. PP. 3-4). The meeting was attended
by the director of the department of public education
S. Antsyferov, the head of the main resettlement
department G. Glinka, clerk K. Denisov. G. Glinka
in his report said that starting in 1908, the main
resettlement administration and the Great Synod
came to an agreement on the opening of parish
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schools. They pointed out that at that time, school
activities needed to be organized in conjunction
with the Ministry of Education. Considering this
issue, the Council decided to create special regional
commissions for organizing schools and schools in
each region. The tasks of the regional commissions
included identifying areas in need of opening
schools and colleges, finding rental buildings for
schools and colleges for the first time, and inviting
teachers to planned educational institutions.

The regional commission has done a lot of work
in the region. After the creation of the regional
commission, financial problems in the construction
of schools in the region began to be resolved faster
(CSA RK. F. 19. Op. 1. D. 599. PP. 5-6). Only in
1915, loans and non-repayable funds were allocated
for the construction of 6 schools in the small Verny
district.

The first meeting of the Regional Commission
in the Semirechensk region took place on March 4,
1910. The meeting was attended by the chairman,
military governor of the Semirechensky region
M.Folbaum and other members, the vice-governor
of the Semirechensky region P. Ostashkin, the head
of the Semirechensky resettlement department
S.Veletsky, inspectors of public education schools
P. Yakob, V. Svetlov, the adviser to the regional
board of the Semirechye E Martov and the head of
the small district Verny A. Golubev (CSA RK. F. 19.
Op. 1. D. 1981. P. 46). A. Golubev was appointed
secretary of the commission.

According to the head of the Semirechensk
resettlement department S. Veletsky, in small areas
Pishpek and Verny there was a need to open schools
urgently. In addition, the head made a report on the
educational process in the Semirechensk region.
One of the main issues raised during the meeting was
related to the construction of schools. In particular,
the need for the construction of the Ministry of
Public Education or parish schools on the lands
of immigrants was considered. For an organized
solution of the issues of building schools and
educational activities in the region, the commission
decided to establish special construction committees
in each district.

At a meeting of the regional commission
on March 11, 1910, it was decided to build 20
school buildings in the districts of Verny, Pishpek,
Przhevalsky, Zharkent and organize construction
committees by the end of 1910 (CSA RK. F. 19.
Op. 1. D. 126. P.83). The meetings of the regional
committee mainly discussed issues related to
education in the region and the construction
of schools and colleges. This suggests that the
resettlement management paid special attention to
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educational activities, always kept under control the
problems of education and training.

The instructions of the Ministry of Education
sent to the Governor-General of Turkestan dated by
November 1, 1912 present the tasks of the regional
commission (CSA RK. F. 19. Op. 1. D. 1981. P. 3).
It should be noted that according to the instructions,
the commission also included a representative
of the religious department. Due to the lack of
communication between the regional commissions
and the Diocesan Committees, the Ministry of
Public Education included a representative of a
religious organization in the commission (CSA RK
F. 19. Op. 1. D. 630. P. 61). From this we notice
that religious organizations also participated in the
educational process.

According to the order of the Ministry of Public
Education, on June 22, 1909, the “Regulation on the
provision of material assistance for the construction
of schools” was approved (CSA RK. F. 19. Op. 1.
D. 1827. P. 3). According to the 4th article of the
provision, the Ministry of Education was obliged
to allocate half of the funds for the construction
of schools in the form of an irrevocable loan.
The amount of funds allocated by the Ministry of
Education was reflected in the reporting documents.

On August 9, 1914, the military governor
of the Semirechensk region prepared special
instructions for the construction committees of the
regional commission and district commissions.
This instruction was printed in the printing house
of Verny (CSA RK. F. 19. Op. 1. D. 1075. PP. 24-
35). The document was approved by the military
governor of the Semirechensk region M. Folbaum.
The instruction consists of 7 sections and 59
subparagraphs. It closely studied and examined
in detail issues related to the authorities of the
region and its administration, the construction of
educational buildings, the funds allocated to them
and their future.

In accordance with the “Instruction by the local
construction committee established for the construction
of school buildings in the resettlement villages of the
Semirechensk region”, the construction of school
buildings was carried out by local construction
committees. The Construction Committee consisted of
achairman — a local teacher or a priest, and members of
the village elder or headman, 4-5 local residents. The
decision on the selection of members of the building
committees was approved by the County Commission
and the Regional Committee.

As noted in subparagraph 13-14 of the
Instructions, the construction and opening of schools
of the Ministry of Public Education, the activities of
construction committees in the district and in small

areas were controlled by the county commission.
The chairman of the commission was the inspector
of the county public school, and the members were
the head of the county, tax inspector, head of a small
district, district overseer of parish schools, a local
arborist (CSA RK. F. 19. Op. 1. D.1075. PP. 26) .

County commissions acted in accordance with
the instructions. For example, at a meeting of the
Przhevalsky district commission of April 10, 1915,
questions were discussed about the construction of
schools in the Przhevalsk district and the necessary
funds for 1915-1916 (CSA RK.F. 19. Op. 1. D. 1090.
PP. 24-25). In this regard, in 1915 it was planned
to build 5 schools in the villages of Barskauyn,
Sokolovka, Tarkhan and in 1916 7 schools in
the villages of Svetlaya-Polyana, Razdolnoye,
Valeriyanovka, Rysok and Grigoryevka. Village
statements and a loan statement regarding the
construction of these schools were sent to the
Regional Commission.

At a meeting of the Lepsin County Commission
on October 20, 1915, the question of opening a
Russian-native school was examined (CSA RK.
F.19. Op. 1. D. 1079. PP. 18-19). In accordance
with the decision of the rural community of Saratov,
together with the districts of Makanshi-Sadyr and
Makanchi-Kastek, to open a Russian-native school,
they asked to allocate 3,000 rubles from the Ministry
of Education and 3,000 rubles in the form of a loan
from the resettlement department. It should be noted
that the nomadic Kazakh volosts immediately paid
1,167 rubles 80 kopecks and obliged each house to
provide assistance for 20 kopecks from 1916 until
the end of school construction.

On May 20, 1916, by order of the head of the
Semirechensky resettlement department, Burygin,
the head of the land surveying department was
given the task of distributing 3 tithes of land from
free plots in the Kyrgyz department of the village of
Tarhan of the Przhevalsky district to the school site
(CSARK. F. 19. Op. 1. D. 630. P .45). As indicated
in the order, on behalf of the Kazakh residents
of the village of Tarkhan, ZhakynbekAtakanov
and DikembayAdilev made a request for the
allocation of appropriate sites for the mosque and
school. However, according to the aforementioned
“Instructions by the local construction committee
established for the construction of school buildings
in resettlement villages of the Semirechensk
region”, 14 acres of land were allocated to school
plots in the newly built villages along with the yard
share. In the old settlements, 4.5 acres of land were
allocated to the share of schools (CSA RK. F. 19.
Op. 1. D. 1075. PP. 25). Yard lands were school
yards, research sites.

81



Enlightening activities of the tsarist government in semirechye in the early XX th century

pSLE _ 00s¢ yo19 00c€
junourepaIeIpu] junouwrepajeIpuy ¢l junowrepajedpu 0002 junourepajeIpu Lz 5100
- - - - - - - - - - [edey|
onqnd - - glel I onqnd - - clel I JuaIRYZ
- - - - - onqnd - - 161 I Telin
S[0OY0ST0} S[ooyos
d - - d - - d
dMqn PaTROOIY SI61-v061 L olqne Z 0IpaIBION[Y Y161-9061 9 A=dysid
1] - 00LT yle6l C 96 - 0007 ylel-€l6l ¥ ysutsdo]
- - - - - onqnd - - €161-L061 L DjS[emozId
009¢ - 008 €r61-clo6l € 00cs 000¢ 00¢I €l161-0161 8 Arurop
I1 o1 6 8 L 9 S 14 € C I
pouks juswoFeue pouks juowoFeuet
spunjoriqnd spunjoriqnd
1S91[OH JUAWII[NSAY 1S9I[OH JUAWIA[NSAY
UOT)ONIISUOD UOT)ONIISUOD
(sorqnuum) JO s1BOX junoury (sogqnau) JO s1BOX junoury —
sosuadxoreroueur sosuadxoreroueul,{
JUSUIUSIYSI[US [RUOT)EU JO AISTUIA] Y} JO S[OOYOS s[ooyosysueq

UO0I321 JSUSYOAIIWAS O} UT UONEINPH O1[qnd JO ANSIUTIA 93 JO S[OOYDS Pue S[0oyos ysiied Jo UOONISUOd oY) U0 UOBUWLIOJU] — | J[qeL,

82



O. Mukhatova, G. Tleubekova

After the creation of the regional and district
commissions from 1909-1910, school activities
began to develop at an accelerated pace.

As can be seen from table 1, until 1915 in a
small area of Kapal, the construction of a church,
a parish school and a school of the Ministry of
Education was not carried out. For 1906-1915,
schools and churches were not built in Kapal
(CSA RK. F. 19. Op. 1. D. 806. P. 108), since the
number of Russian villages in Kapal was small and
there was no need for construction. In accordance
with the «Regulation on the provision of material
assistance for the construction of schools» dated
June 22, 1909, in the event of a lack of collected
public funds for the construction of schools, there
were not enough loans allocated from the fund for
resettlement management (CSA RK. F. 19. Op. 1.
D. 1827.P. 3).

Among the educational institutions opened in
the Semirechensk region were agricultural schools.
On November 27, 1913, the Main Directorate of
Agriculture and Land Management approved the
“General Statute of Agricultural Schools» (CSA
RK. F. 19. Op. 1. D. 464. PP. 5-24). According
to the charter, subordinate agricultural schools
were opened with the permission of the Main
Directorate of Agriculture and Land Management.
There were control committees overseeing the
activities of each school. In addition, there were
agricultural and shepherd schools in the region. For
example, at a meeting of the Verny City Council
on February 28, 1912, the question of the opening
of the Vernensk Agricultural School (CSA RK. F.
19. Op. 1. D. 354. LL. 3-4) was considered. The
representative of the city administration noted that
the training of special professionals in schools
will affect the transition of the local population to
a sedentary lifestyle. As a result of the meeting, it
was decided to allocate places to the educational
institution from free land plots by the State Public
Administration.

The opening of the agricultural school was
planned for early 1914. In November 1913,
the governor of the Semirechensk region S.N.
Veletsky requested the Governor-General of

Turkestan to open a school at the beginning of
the new year. He proposed to open agricultural
courses if the above educational institution does
not open (CSA RK. F. 19. Op. 1. D. 354. P. 35).
Along with other subjects, special subjects were
also taught at the school. The courses studied
those disciplines that were related to the specialty.
For example, the curriculum of 1910 of the
agricultural school included only 17 subjects, of
which special subjects were: “Geodesy”, “Laws
of land surveying”, “Cosmography”, “Surface of
the earth and plants” (CSA RKRK. F. 19. Op 1.
D. 354. PP. 39-62). In addition, in all educational
institutions, the lesson «Religious studies» was
mandatory.

The curriculum (CSA RK. F. 19. Op. 1.
D. 480. PP. 7-50) specially designed for the
VernenskGarden School had many special
subjects, and they were mainly taught in
grades 2-3. It should be noted that the subject
“Accounting” was included in the program of
the Vernensky school, in which they gave the
necessary explanations regarding movable and
immovable capital, receipts, bills. According
to the programs reviewed, it can be noted that
all the necessary disciplines were introduced in
educational institutions. In addition, for the years
1913-1915. in the Semirechensk region several
churches were built. The most complete statistics
are presented in table 2.

As the author correctly summarized, at the
turn of the 19th-20th centuries, i.e. In 1894-1917,
primary education in Russia made significant
progress (Cherkasov, 2011: 148). Here, in our
opinion, one can note the special role of the Law
of May 3, 1908 “On the leave of 6,900,000 rubles
for the needs of primary education”, which pro-
vided for the allocation of the indicated amount
annually from January 1, 1908 according to the
estimates of the Ministry of Education regular ap-
propriations (Byzova 2013: 236). On the dynamic
development of educational work throughout the
country at the beginning of the twentieth century.
the above facts and figures, which are given by
the Seven Rivers, can also testify.
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Conclusion

Educational activity of the Russian Empire in
Semirechye began with the construction of schools
and churches. For example, in the years 1910-
1914, 40 schools were built. The allocated funds
amounted to 15618 rubles. Unfortunately, in the
19th fund there are no documents reflecting in-
formation about the students and their numbers.
Also in the Territory, was opened an Agricultural
School to teach improved farming, where special-

ists were trained. In the Semirechye region in the
years 1913-1915 10 churches were built. For their
construction, fixed assets in the amount of 39,500
rubles were allocated by the Resettlement Depart-
ment. For the construction of schools spent mainly
public funds. In 1908-1916 71 prayer houses were
erected in the region, most of them were located
in Pishpek small district. Prayer houses were also
mainly funded by public funds. Thus, the tsarist
government intensified its educational activities in
this region.
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